

### UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PADOVA

#### Dipartimento di Psicologia Generale

Corso di laurea in Scienze Psicologiche Cognitive e Psicobiologiche

Tesi di Laurea Triennale

# The neuropharmacological basis of psychedelic-induced visual hallucinations

*Relatore* Prof. Alessandro Angrilli

> *Laureando:* Ruggero Condorelli *Matricola:* 1221897

Anno Accademico 2021-2022

### Table of Contents

CHAPTER I. Introduction on Psychedelics	4
1.1 Definition and Classification	4
1.2 History	5
1.3 Pharmacodynamics and Pharmacokinetics	5
1.4 Subjective effects and the role of context	6
1.5 Therapeutic effects and risks	7
1.6 Visual perceptual alterations and Imagery	9
1.6.1 Distinctions with Deliriants	9
1.6.2 Psychedelic Imagery vs. Voluntary Imagination	9
1.6.3 Elementary Imagery and Form Constants	10
1.6.4 Complex Imagery and the role of the Self	10
CHAPTER II. Neuropharmacological and Neurophysiological Mechanisms of Visua Hallucinations	เI 14
2.1 Role of 5-HT <sub>2A</sub> R distribution	14
2.2 From 5-HT <sub>2A</sub> R binding to cortical excitation	15
2.3 Mechanistic models of visual cortex activity patterns	16
2.4 Brainwaves and reduced top-down control	17
2.5 Event Related Potentials and High-level vs. Low-level visual processing	19
2.6 Changes in functional connectivity	21
CHAPTER III. Discussion and conclusions	26
3.1 Involvement of structures and networks in the regulation of synchronization a connectivity	and 26
3.1.1 Thalamocortical Networks	
3.1.2 Temporal Networks/Lobe and Default Mode Network	27
3.2 Ending notes on temporal dynamics of elementary and complex visual halluc	inations 28
3.3 Limitations on psychedelics research	29
3.3.1 Sample size and representativity	29
3.3.2 Neuroimaging limitations	
3.3.3 Placebo	30
Bibliography	31

#### CHAPTER I. Introduction on Psychedelics

#### 1.1Definition and Classification

Psychedelic drugs consist of a wide class of substances which are mostly well-known for their ability to provoke unique alterations in one's state of mind such as hallucinatory perceptual experiences (most frequently visual) and marked changes in mood and cognition. Surprisingly, compared to other drugs of abuse that have a reinforcing effect, the aim of the assumption of these types of drugs is often to voluntarily access an altered state of consciousness. Moreover, it is not unusual that after the first intake of one of these substances the user avoids the drug, even for a long period of time. That is why they are generally considered to be not addictive. Although nowadays the term "psychedelics" is commonly and interchangeably used to refer to all the drugs that cause the symptoms aforementioned, it is particularly important to distinguish between different classes of psychedelics, as different substances can exert their effect through action on different neurotransmitter systems. The "classic" psychedelics like Lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD), Psilocybin, N,N-Dimethyltryptamine (DMT), and Mescaline are all selective agonists or partial agonists at the 5-HT<sub>2A</sub> serotonin receptor subtype, they are similar in their structure and in their neurochemical and psychological effects (Nichols, 2016); mescaline is a phenethylamine, while the rest are tryptamines (see Fig. 1.1). On the other hand, other known psychedelics/hallucinogens like Ketamine, Scopolamine and MDMA (ecstasy), have different chemical action sites: ketamine is an NMDA receptor antagonist, scopolamine is a competitive antagonist of the muscarinic type of acetylcholine receptor, and MDMA is either/both a releaser and reuptake inhibitor of monoamines (Advokat et al., 2014). It is also important to note that the term with which all these substances have been classified changed more than once in this field's literature, and it is still controversial. Some of the most used terms (aside from psychedelics) are hallucinogens, entheogens and psychotomimetics. However, each of these terms implies a specific aspect of a drug which is not always accurate (for instance, classic psychedelics do not produce true hallucinations), and often has a negative connotation. Moreover, drugs like scopolamine and ketamine can produce hallucinogenic effects but they differ from serotoninergic psychedelics in having more dissociative effects. In the end, I find more appropriate to use "serotoninergic psychedelics" only to refer to those substances that function as selective agonist or partial agonist on serotonin's 2A receptor, and consequently this work will only focus on them. From now on, just for a simplicity matter, I will use the term "psychedelics" to relate to serotoninergic psychedelics.

#### 1.2 History

Although psychedelics research has less than a century of life, the historical use by humans of these substances (except for LSD) can be traced back to almost 5000 years ago when indigenous tribes started to consume them for religious and medical purposes. For instance, we have anthropological proof of the use of Peyote, a small cactus native to Northern Mexico that contains mescaline, by Aztecs and North American Indians as a sacrament during religious ceremonies (El-Seedi et al., 2005; Bruhn et al., 2002). Similarly, psilocybin (contained in mushrooms) and DMT (contained in a brew called Ayahuasca) were and still are traditionally administered by Aztec shamans during divinatory rituals and in healing contexts (Schultes & Hofmann, 1979; Dobkin de Rios, 1971). The start of recent psychedelics literature can be dated in 1943 when the chemist Albert Hofmann accidentally discovered LSD (Hofmann, 1979). In the following years a lot of clinical papers have been published (Grinspoon & Bakalar, 1979) until when, due to the increasing number of cases of recreational use of psychedelics during the 60's cultural movement, LSD was made illegal, and together with similar psychedelic substances was moved in Schedule I category of abused substances. Currently, we are assisting at a renaissance of psychedelics research, focusing primarily on clinical applications of psilocybin and LSD as a co-treatment (together with psychotherapy) for a variety of mental disorders such as depression, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), cancer-related anxiety, and for detoxification from alcohol or other drugs (Bogenschutz & Pommy, 2012; Grob et al., 2011; Krebs & Johansen, 2012).

#### 1.3 Pharmacodynamics and Pharmacokinetics

As of today, it is extensively recognized that psychedelics exert their neuropsychological effects by activating (as agonists) serotonin 2A receptor (5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R) both in animal models and humans (Halberstadt, 2015; González-Maeso et al., 2007; Schmid et al., 2015). Indeed, one of the first proofs was a study conducted by Vollenweider (Vollenweider et al. 1998) on healthy subjects where the administration of Ketanserin, a selective 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R antagonist, blocked the effects of psilocybin and LSD. This finding has been replicated over the years too, both for hallucinating effects and for inhibition control induced deficits (Kometer, et al., 2011; Quednow, et al., 2012). Moreover, Ketanserin has also been found to hinder the psilocybin-induced lowering of N170 event related potential (ERP) (Kometer et al. 2013), and to block the ayahuasca-induced reduction in alpha power (Valle et al., 2016), both of which are hallmarks of visual hallucinations elicited by psychedelics (see section 2.4, 2.5). It is then intuitive to think that 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R agonists

should imitate psychedelics symptoms, but that is not the case: as found by Marona-Lewika and colleagues (Marona-Lewicka et al., 2002) two 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R agonists (Lisuride and Ergotamine) did not behave as hallucinogens. To explain this, it is important to know that 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R is a G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR), and as G-protein coupled receptors 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R can undertake different conformational states, which can be stabilized by different agonists; once this is done the receptor activates only a part of the possible intracellular signaling pathways coupled to the receptor ("functional selectivity") (Urban et al., 2007; López-Giménez & González-Maeso, 2017).

The absorption and metabolism are also similar between different psychedelics, with the exception of DMT which is a fast-acting drug. The usual route of administration is oral through ingestion of the substance, except for synthesized DMT which is snorted or smoked. Generally, mescaline is a bit slower than the others, with absorption in 1-2 hours, an onset at around 3-4 hours and a total action duration that frequently arrive at 10 hours. LSD and psilocybin are usually absorbed within an hour, reaching peak blood concentration levels in 2-3 hours, and the effects last until 6-8 hours. The action of DMT depends on the route of administration: if it's taken alone the first effects occur within 2 minutes and last for 30 minutes; whereas if taken within ayahuasca it has an onset of 30-60 minutes and persist for 3-4 hours. On the other hand, the potency of DMT and psilocybin is approximately similar to one another with a dosage threshold of 0.25 milligrams per kilogram of bodyweight), but very different from LSD (0.02 milligrams per kilogram of bodyweight) and mescaline (5 milligrams per kilogram of bodyweight), being respectively the most and least potent psychedelics (Advokat et al., 2014).

#### 1.4 Subjective effects and the role of context

The most characteristic effects of psychedelics are sensory perception alterations, such as increased sensitivity for all senses, synesthetic effects (mainly audio-visual) and visual distortions (e.g., brighter colors, flashes, geometrical moving patterns, and complex imagery) (Schmid et al., 2015). Nevertheless, their phenomenological profile includes a plethora of effects at multiple psychological levels (a more detailed description of visual hallucinations can be found at 1.6). Indeed, remarkable alterations can be seen in sense of self (e.g., ego-dissolving), mood (e.g., more euphoric/dysphoric or relaxed/stressed) and thought including the perception of reality (changed meaning of percepts) (Studerus et al., 2011). Thus, the user is immerged in an altered state of consciousness (ASC) characterized by the sequence of different stages where the experience can reach several

peak states in which the sense of self is loosened and the ego structure merges in one entity together with the world, giving a unique feeling of unity or "oneness" (Dittrich, 1998). Since the spectrum of subjective experience is quite complex Dittrich designed the "five-dimensional altered states of consciousness" questionnaire (5D-ASC) (Dittrich, 1998), in order to reliably quantify the different psychological effects. Moreover, it has been discovered that the intensity of various dimensions of the psychedelic experience assessed with 5D-ASC questionnaire increased following a dose-dependently trend (Hasler et al., 2004; Studerus et al., 2011) (see Fig.1.2). Nonetheless, it is of utmost importance underlying the influence of context on the user's experience, which can determine the valence of the experience (positive or negative) and, interacting with the dosage, can also shift the intensity of several effects. For instance, assuming psilocybin in a PET scanner increases anxiety levels with respect to a control condition without the PET scanner (Studerus et al., 2012). In the same pooled data analysis, it is shown that 24 non-pharmacological factors played a major role in determining acute responses to psilocybin. These context factors can be internal (expectations, personality, experience) or external (type of environment and culture) to the subject and the psychedelic effect will be dependent on the interactions of those two. As explained in (Carhart-Harris et al., 2018), a party-like environment could have different effects on different people as one could feel too much stimulated whereas someone else could feel safer next to other people. Despite the very strong psychological and perceptual effects these substances do not bring great changes at physiological levels, although it is common to see subtle sympathomimetic changes like slight increase in body temperature, heart rate and blood pressure (Advokat et al., 2014). Furthermore, psychedelics are known for not being addictive and they do not lead to physical dependence (Nichols, 2016). On the other hand, psychological and physiological tolerance is rapidly developed together with crosstolerance between other psychedelics (Advokat et al., 2014).

#### 1.5 Therapeutic effects and risks

The first application of psychedelic drugs as a therapeutic tool was the use of LSD to treat cancer-related psychological distress (CRPD); in particular, anxiety and depression levels were found to be reduced in two-thirds of the cancer patients (Grof et al., 1973). Clinical applications for the treatment of CRPD have also been recently extended to psilocybin (Griffiths et al., 2016; Ross et al., 2016) which had positive persisting effects on self-report measures of depression and anxiety. There also are multiple suggestions that

psilocybin could be used to treat depression in patients without cancer diagnosis. First, a pilot study reported that a high-dose of psilocybin significantly reduced depressive symptoms for almost three months (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016a). Secondly, an experiment showed that the right amygdala activation of heathy participants, after exposure to both negative and neutral pictures, was markedly diminished and it was positively correlated with positive mood; suggesting that the psilocybin-induced attenuation of amygdala activity could relief depressive symptoms in patients (Kraehenmann et al., 2015). Another tested field of application of psychedelic drugs is the treatment of addictive substances such as alcohol and nicotine. Since the experiments conducted until governments' restrictions did not apply rigorous methodology, the first reliable study that we have is a meta-analysis of six clinical trials which stated that LSD had clinically significant effects on the treatment of alcohol addiction, compared to control treatment (Krebs & Johansen, 2012). Likewise, psilocybin has been proved to have significant clinical outcomes for alcohol addiction (Bogenschutz et al., 2015). Indeed, in this proof-of-concept trial the effects remained for 36 weeks of follow up. Psilocybin has also been tested in a pilot study for the treatment of nicotine addiction, together with psychotherapy (Johnson et al., 2014); at a follow-up of 6 months the 80% of participants showed self-reported and biologically measured abstinence. Despite the great therapeutic potential of psychedelic drugs, it is also important to mention that there are some, albeit very rare, risks associated with these substances. Generally, the acute adverse reactions are of psychological type, such as strong dysphoria and anxiety/panic, which might occur if the drug is taken in unsupervised and uncomfortable settings, and with very high doses. In fact, since the set and setting are crucial for the clinical use these substances, Johnson et al. (2008) developed a safety guideline which recommends a structured use in clinical research and specifies the restrictions that should be followed to minimize adverse reactions. Another psychological adverse reaction is the re-experiencing of visual distortions ("flashbacks") such as afterimages, halo effects, and other visuals encountered during the psychedelic experience. This is known as Hallucinogen Persisting Perception Disorder (HPPD) and, although rare, it provokes functional impairment or distress in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning (American Psychiatric Association 2013).

#### 1.6 Visual perceptual alterations and Imagery

Since psychedelic-induced visual "hallucinations" are the main psychological effect and their variety is quite large both intra and inter subjects, I think it is important to describe and classify these types of perceptual alterations. Moreover, since there has always been a debate regarding the nature of these symptoms, I find useful highlighting the differences and similarities with psychosis-like hallucinations elicited by deliriants, and with normal voluntary imagination as well. Finally, for reasons of clarity and simplicity, from now on I will use the term 'visual hallucinations' to indicate only those provoked by classic serotoninergic psychedelics, including both visual distortions and induced imagery.

#### 1.6.1 Distinctions with Deliriants

Before the term psychedelic was used constantly, all substances that elicited all sorts of visual distortions or hallucinations were usually called hallucinogens. Although, classic psychedelics visual distortions are not actually true hallucinations (such as those experienced with deliriants and in psychotic episodes), which in fact is the perception of something in the absence of appropriate sensations. Rather, they could be defined as altered perception of real visual objects in any of its visual properties (shape, dimension, movement, depth, color, saliency, etc...), and users are able to distinguish them from real perceptions at moderate doses (Kometer & Vollenweider, 2016). Another distinction regards the content of psychedelic vs. deliriant visions: while deliriants' hallucinations consist of real objects or people that the subject has already seen, psychedelic imagery often resembles surreal or unreal objects, entities, and places; despite having similar vividness (Fortier, 2018).

#### 1.6.2 Psychedelic Imagery vs. Voluntary Imagination

At a phenomenological level psychedelic imagery differs from imagination by having higher vividness, intensity, stability, and spatial resolution over time, furthermore the user has less control over the imagery (Klüver, 1928). Nevertheless, psychedelic imagery and voluntary imagination surprisingly seem to share some similarities at a neurophysiological level. Indeed, a recent review (Fox et al., 2018) of psychedelic functional neuroimaging found that during psychedelic imagery there is an increased activation of the same medial visual area that is activated during voluntary imagination, suggesting that the increased engagement of this visual area is at the base of the higher vividness seen in psychedelic imagery. Although, I suggest that the higher vividness and spatial resolution of psychedelic imagery could be caused by the fact that psychedelics

might involve both bottom-up and top-down processes. Specifically, given that high-level visual areas might have a lower representational spatial resolution compared to low-level visual areas (Jehee et al., 2007), during voluntary imagination (a top-down process) the representation process starts in high-level areas and sends feedforward signals to lower areas, while under psychedelics the imagery process could have its start both in higher and lower visual areas.

#### 1.6.3 Elementary Imagery and Form Constants

In the dynamic of the psychedelic visual experience, elementary illusions are the first ones to appear and at low doses they are featured by higher brightness and contrast of objects and their colors (Siegel & Jarvik, 1975), and the appearance of phosphenes, especially in the periphery of the visual field (Shanon, 2002). At medium doses objects might start to rhythmically drift and vibrate, particularly in their peripheral parts such as the edges (Díaz, 2010). Following the next phases of the experience, new percepts and more complex illusions could appear such as seeing more colors than usual during motion afterimages, together with a higher after image suppression of new stimuli (Hartman & Hollister, 1963; Keeler, 1965). Psilocybin can also induce alterations in binocular rivalry (Carter et al., 2007) and disrupted modal object completion of Kanizsa figures (Kometer et al., 2011). In later stages of simple imagery subjects start to see more elaborated patterns of geometrical kaleidoscopic-like figures which are often symmetrical and in movement (Díaz, 2010). These geometrical patterns were systematically analyzed by Klüver (Klüver, 1928; Klüver, 1942), and classified as "form constants" which he found to be peculiar reoccurring geometrical imagery among different subjects (Fig. 1.3). Indeed, these patterns have been subsequently found to be consistent across different cultures and different psychedelics (Siegel & Jarvik, 1975).

#### 1.6.4 Complex Imagery and the role of the Self

Complex imagery, which usually appear after simple imagery, differs from the latter mainly for the content of visions, which is much more semantic (Díaz 2010). First, they occur less frequently than simple imagery (Studerus et al. 2011). Secondly, based on the dosage, they could be seen with eyes-closed or in dark environment (low-to-medium dose), or in a dimmed ambience in the periphery of the visual field (Siegel and Jarvik, 1975). A special exception is reported to happen with DMT (Shanon, 2002) which provoked intense complex imagery even with opened eyes in a bright room. Complex imagery content, in contrast to elementary imagery, is very much dependent on one's

autobiography, and on set & setting of the experience (Studerus et al. 2011). Indeed, it might contain vivid autobiographical memories (Shanon, 2002), or (especially in ayahuasca rituals) can be composed of non-real entities (gods, demons) or animals, and mystical places (Cott and Rock, 2008).

In Fig. 1.4 and 1.5 you can see how psychedelics imagery has been depicted by several artists after experiencing the visions.



Fig. 1.1 Molecular structure of classic psychedelics



**Fig. 1.2** Dose-dependent percentage scores of item clusters from the 'Altered States of Consciousness Rating Scale' (5D-ASC). Error bars represent standard errors. Ratings were obtained during peak drug effects (60–270min after drug administration). From Studerus et al. (2011)



**Fig. 1.3 Kluver form constants** Klüver's mescaline form constants (Klüver, 1928; Klüver, 1942). I) Tunnels and Funnels; II) Spirals; III) Lattices (e.g Honeycombs and triangles); IV) Cobwebs



Fig. 1.4 Alex Grey & Allyson Grey, Rainbow Eye Ripple, 2019. Acrylic on canvas, 48 x 48 inches.



Fig 1.5 "Los Cachiboleros" by Pablo Amaringo (2002)

#### CHAPTER II. Neuropharmacological and Neurophysiological Mechanisms of Visual Hallucinations

#### 2.1 Role of 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R distribution

Since we now know that 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R activation is necessary for the experience of visual hallucinations, it can be assumed that this receptor is densely expressed in the visual cortex. Indeed, although the receptor is generally distributed throughout all the cerebral cortex (Fig. 2.1), it was found that the primary visual cortex (V1) presents a high expression of 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R, especially with respect to other secondary areas in the visual cortex (Beliveau, et al., 2017). Within pyramidal neurons of deep cortical layer V are found high levels of 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R binding and mRNA expression (Andrade, 2011; López-Giménez, et al., 2001), except for V1, in which the layer with most expression is the fourth (the one that processes incoming input from the lateral geniculate nucleus) (López-Giménez, et al., 2001; Watakabe, et al., 2008). Moreover, the receptor expression in layer VI of V1 was downregulated after three hours of monocular deprivation (Watakabe, et al., 2008). These findings suggest that HT<sub>2A</sub>R is involved in the very first processing of visual information. Therefore, given these results, the dose-dependent complexity and intensity of visual hallucinations could be explained: elementary hallucinations could be generated by low doses of psychedelics via binding in V1 where there are more receptors, whereas the generation of more complex imagery is provoked by higher doses, needed to bind with less receptors in higher level visual areas. The hypothesis by which low level visual areas are involved in simple imagery while hierarchically higher visual areas are involved in complex imagery is further supported by the finding that different hallucinations elicited with electrical stimulation depend on the site of stimulation (Lee, et al., 2000). It is nevertheless important to highlight that  $HT_{2A}R$  is also highly expressed in high-level association areas (Beliveau et al., 2017), such as medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), which are part of the default-mode-network (DMN) and are involved in self-referential thought, semantic processing, and top-down control (Raichle, 2015). In fact, over the last few years psychedelics literature's focus on this network has increased because of the potential role of this structure on the regulation of the psychedelic state, particularly during peak drug effects including "being immersed in another reality", which is thought to be a further step in the complexity of induced imagery allowed by a less pronounced top-down control (Carhart-Harris & Friston, 2019).

#### 2.2 From 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R binding to cortical excitation

A big research question has always been whether psychedelics effect on cortical activity is excitatory and/or inhibitory, and recent literature suggest that there is an overall increase in excitation across the cortex leading to a depolarizing effect (Celada, et al., 2013; Nichols, 2016). Given the high expression of 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R mRNA in excitatory glutamatergic neurons (Halberstadt, 2015), the most reproduced result is the increment of excitatory postsynaptic currents (EPSCs) of pyramidal neurons principally in layer V (González-Maeso, et al., 2007; Muthukumaraswamy, et al., 2013; Riga et al. 2014). The psychedelic induced increase in excitation is supported by the ability of 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R selective antagonists to suppress this excitation (Aghajanian & Marek 1997). Interestingly, the same effect was found also with a-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor antagonists (Zhang & Marek 2008) and metabotropic glutamate receptor agonists (Aghajanian & Marek 1997). These discoveries indicate that the induced increase in excitation might be due to increased glutamate synaptic activity. In fact, it is thought that a dysregulation in the release of glutamate in the deep layers of the cortex is correlated with asynchrony and temporal dissociation between layer V cell spike activity and the local field potentials' phase ("spike-field decoherence) (Aghajanian & Marek, 1999; Celada et al., 2008). Increased excitation in human visual cortex has been found in an fMRI study assessing visual cortex activation during visualization of eyes-closed visual imagery provoked by ayahuasca (de Araujo, et al., 2012) and psilocybin (Carhart-Harris, et al., 2012). In cats' visual cortex excitation has been found to be increased with low doses of psychedelics, while with high doses there was surprisingly more inhibition (Rose & Horn, 1977). Given that average animal doses usually correspond to higher doses in human experiments, the aforementioned results could mean that inhibitory processes might be seen in humans with very high doses or at peak drug effects. In fact, a phenomenological correspondence is observed when very high doses provoke the visualization of a blackout (Shanon, 2002). This is also supported by the expression (in lower amounts) of 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R mRNA in inhibitory GABAergic neurons (De Almeida & Mengod, 2007). Therefore, at this stage of the experience one should also consider those structures that do not express 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R (e.g., those that might remain active after inhibition). More information on how psychedelics modulate cortical excitability and how excitation/inhibition provoke visual hallucination can be found in (Watakabe et al. 2009). In this experiment 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R agonists induced "bidirectional modulatory effects" on the activity of V1; namely they had opposite effects on high and low neuronal firing rates.

Precisely, they smothered high-firing rate neurons, which are activated by phasic visual stimuli (Montemurro et al. 2008), but heightened the baseline activity (low firing rate) of V1 neurons. Thus, psychedelics can invert the usual processing in V1, shifting the focus on internal background activity and 'neglecting' external stimuli (Kometer and Vollenweider, 2016). In conclusion, it seems that despite the overall increase in cortical excitability, both excitation and inhibition processes are involved in visual hallucinations.

#### 2.3 Mechanistic models of visual cortex activity patterns

In this subsection I will report a computational model of V1 activity under psychedelics that is able to explain geometrical visual hallucinations by building upon V1 topography. Then I will report a relevant experiment, which recorded resting-state functional connectivity (RSFC) within the visual cortex, to integrate its results with the computational models of V1. The model proposed here (Wilson & Cowan, 1972; Ermentrout & Cowan 1979) was the first computational model (a two-layer neural network) that was able to explain elementary geometrical hallucinations such as the Kluver's form constants (especially lattice patterns) building upon a retinocortical mapping of V1, in a way that the activity patterns resembled the form constants. The model by which activity is spread through visual cortex is taken from Turing's mechanism of morphogenesis in which an activator's and inhibitor's diffusion rates determine patches/stripes of activity (Turing, 1952). These stripes of activity, which resemble Kluver's form constants, are represented in the model by the calculation of space constant of excitation and inhibition (Wilson & Cowan, 1972). Thus, geometrical visual hallucinations are explained by an asymmetry between the distribution of inhibition and excitation (more excitation), that brings the tonic activity of V1 to a critical point where the strength with which spontaneous waves propagate through lateral inhibition is increased. This allows more excited neurons to have a greater inhibitory effect on neighboring cells, which are in turn inhibitory, and therefore these last ones will be less inhibitory towards the other neighbor neurons (that are also in turn inhibitory). Given that regular spontaneous activity follows a retinotopic path along the visual hierarchy (Kenet, et al., 2003), this increased diffusion of activity is experienced by the psychedelic user (with closed eyes) in a retinotopic fashion (Ermentrout & Cowan, 1979). Other authors integrated this model with more detailed structure connectivity organization in V1 and were able to predict and describe other Kluver's form constants as well such as cobwebs and spirals (see Fig. 1.2) (Bressloff et al. 2001, 2002; Butler et al. 2012; Billock & Tsou 2012). The way by which elementary geometrical hallucinations are generated in V1 could also be 'extended' to more complex hallucinations that involve higher-level visual areas, as RSFC modulations provoked by LSD matched the retinotopic connectivity structure underlying V1 and extrastriate area V3 (Roseman et al., 2016). The present study specifically found that, during eyes-closed imagery, LSD increased RSFC between retinotopically connected patches of V1 and V3, whereas RSFC was lower between regions that had incongruent retinotopic representations. This result, together with the previously described computational models, suggest that psychedelics turn visual cortex increased activity to be more dependent on its retinotopic architecture, which explains why specific eyes-closed geometrical hallucinations are experienced. This hypothesis could also explain why geometrical imagery is often perceived larger in the periphery of the visual field compared to more foveal regions since retinotopically peripheral areas in the visual cortex have larger receptive fields than foveal areas (Sereno, et al., 1995) (which means they represent a larger space of the visual field).

#### 2.4Brainwaves and reduced top-down control

Brainwaves modulation is perhaps one of the most studied neurophysiological mechanisms in psychedelics literature. The most consistent finding of brainwaves modifications during intake psychedelic is а general smoothing of electroencephalography (EEG) / magnetoencephalography (MEG) signal, especially a marked flattening of alpha frequency (8-12 Hz) power in the occipital cortex (Kometer, et al., 2013; Muthukumaraswamy, et al., 2013; Alonso, et al., 2015; Carhart-Harris, et al., 2016b; Timmermann, et al., 2019) (see Fig. 2.2). Alpha is one of the most studied frequency bands of brain oscillations, and it is known to be involved in the regulation of neurons' excitability levels (especially in visual cortex), by having a strong inhibitory influence (Klimesch et al. 2007, 2012; Mathewson et al. 2011; Foxe & Snyder, 2011). In line with this view, increased alpha power correlated with decreased blood-oxygen-leveldependent (BOLD) signal in visual cortex (Goldman, et al., 2002), while decreased alpha power has been linked to decreased visual thresholds (Ergenoglu et al., 2004; Thut, 2006; van Dijk et al., 2008) and increased firing rates of neurons of the sensorimotor system (Haegens et al. 2011). Hence, since alpha "propagates from higher-order to lower-order areas" (Halgren et al., 2019), it can be assumed that alpha power decrease leads to reduced top-down inhibition and consequent increased excitability in lower-level regions. Indeed, as experimented in a placebo-controlled study with psilocybin (Kometer et al., 2013) that

recorded alpha band activity before and while presenting simple visual stimuli, the psychedelic drug flattened the occipital alpha power that is usually seen in the absence of task-relevant external stimuli in normal conditions (Klimesch 2011; Palva and Palva 2011), and this flattening prevented the stimulus-induced reduction of alpha power which in normal conditions is usually seen between 200-400ms after stimulus onset (Klimesch 2011); therefore creating a dysbalance between excitability levels induced by a stimulus and those that are seen in task-free conditions. A few years later the same author of the psilocybin experiment proposed that psilocybin-induced reduction in alpha power increased the spontaneous activity of the visual pathways (Kometer & Vollenweider, 2016), and that this increase is responsible for the perception of visual hallucinations. Their argumentation is supported by the fact that recorded electrical activity of the visual cortex in resting-state can be approximated to the activity recorded during presentation of simple geometrical figures (Kenet et al. 2003), which means that when this background activity is increased the subject can consciously perceive the geometric hallucinations resembled in visual cortex activity. Moreover, other authors suggested that visual background activity has to be tonically inhibited in order to keep it from being consciously perceived in the form of geometrical hallucinations (Billock and Tsou 2007). Therefore Kometer & Vollenweider conclude that alpha might stand for this inhibitory mechanism, and that under psychedelics intake the lack of this inhibition turns the cortical activity into a background-driven processing mode that gives rise to conscious percepts of visual geometrics. The relationship of alpha power reduction and visual hallucinations is furthermore underpinned by findings of correlations with subjective ratings of the intensity of DMT-induced visual imagery within subjects (Timmermann et al., 2019), as well as with DMT plasma levels after ingestion of avahuasca (Schenberg et al., 2015). Although the relationship between alpha activity and visual hallucinations is very consistent within the literature, the causal relationship between alpha power and increased/irregular cortical excitation is still under debate. For instance, in trying to assign a direction of causality, by means of dynamic causal modeling, between increased excitability and decreases in broadband oscillatory activity seen with EEG/MEG, the recently developed REBUS model (Carhart-Harris & Friston, 2019) identifies the latter one (particularly alpha) as the consequence of the irregular excitation of pyramidal neurons in deep cortical layers. This is in contrast with Kometer's findings, and therefore more studies will be needed to resolve this issue. Another topic that has been recently rediscussed is whether all of the frequency bands are flattened in EEG/MEG signal. For

instance, theta frequency (2-8Hz) power has been found to be increased in EEG by DMT (Acosta-Urquidi, 2015; Timmermann, et al., 2019), especially in peak-drug states in the second study; and these changes were also correlated with the subjective ratings of intensity. In his review (Carhart-Harris, 2007) Carhart-Harris argues that under psychedelics action bursts of theta activity, generated in the temporal lobes, have been shown to reach association cortices and create new associations which are then brought to consciousness, therefore giving a suggestion of how complex imagery might generated. Additionally, gamma frequency band was found to be moderately increased during psychedelic effects (Kometer et al. 2015; Muthukumaraswamy et al. 2013). Interestingly it can be assumed that, compared to dream states in which gamma frequency is associated with heightened lucidity (awareness of the dream) (Voss et al. 2014), the psychedelic state differs in the level of gamma activity and therefore in the degree of lucidity (which is known to be much stronger). Therefore, even theta and gamma could be implicated in the formation of visual hallucinations.

### 2.5 Event Related Potentials and High-level vs. Low-level visual processing

Another consistent correlate of psychedelic-induced visual hallucinations consists in dosage-dependent increases/decreases of event related potentials (ERP) over extrastriate visual areas of the brain. With high-density EEG studies (Kometer et al., 2011, 2013) it has been found that the amplitude of medial occipital P1 visual evoked potential around 100ms after visual stimulus onset was dose-dependently increased by psilocybin activation of 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R, and this amplification was found to be driven by increased activity in V1 by mathematical source reconstruction. As a result of their experiments Kometer et. al (2011) linked medial occipital P1 psilocybin-induced amplification with subjective reports of increase in brightness perception, based on findings that related brightness perception with medial P1 potential (Proverbio and Zani 2002) and V1 activity (Salminen-Vaparanta et al. 2013). Interestingly, in their second study (Kometer et al., 2013) Kometer and colleagues were able to determine a direct influence of pre-stimulus psilocybininduced alpha power decrease onto the visual P1 amplification, which could mean that the pre-stimulus induced increase in excitability facilitated the processing of brightness and possibly other elementary visual features in the primary visual cortex. On the other hand, in both aforementioned Kometer's experiments a dose-dependent flattening of N170 visual potential was shown 150-190ms after the presentation of the same visual stimuli. The ERP source locations were the lateral occipital complex (LOC) and the

fusiform gyrus, both of which are known to be part of the ventral visual stream and are involved in the processing of complex visual features (Kourtzi & Kanwisher, 2001; Grill-Spector et al., 2001). In fact, the N170 potential is most notably involved in structural encoding of emotional face expression (Rossion et al., 2000) and object recognition and completion (Murray et al., 2002). The last one in particular is a top-down form of recognition processing that integrates local visual features with stored information to interpolate missing parts of objects (Murray et al., 2002); and in line with this, the processing of incomplete Kanizsa figures evoked a higher N170 amplitude compared to control figures (Murray et al., 2006). Kometer and colleagues (Kometer et al., 2011, 2013) then found that the psilocybin induced N170 flattening, and LOC reduced activity were stronger for Kanizsa figures compared to control figures, suggesting that psilocybin impairs integration processes of object completion. This was then associated with the perception of visual hallucinations since the N170 amplitude smoothing was stronger for higher reported subjective intensity. Hence, by integrating findings of dose-dependent increase in P1 and concurrent decrease in N170, it can be assumed that psychedelics have a double opposite action on low-level vs. highl-level visual processing, namely dysregulating higher-level integration processes (e.g., object recognition, global motion detection), and at the same time enhancing the perception of simple visual features (e.g., brightness, contrast, local motion detection). This hypothesis is supported by behavioral data as well (Carter et al., 2004) which states that psilocybin increased the performance for local low-level motion discrimination and decreased performance for global highlevel motion discrimination. The authors concluded that the decreased high-level motion perception could be induced by diminished inhibition of incoherent motion signals. This makes sense, given that pre-stimulus alpha brainwaves support high-level motion perception (Mayer et al., 2016) and it is known that they are flattened by psychedelics. These findings provide a strong explanation for the perception of psychedelics-induced elementary imagery (e.g., drifting of objects and increased afterimage effects), but more information is still needed to better explain the mechanisms of more complex imagery, such as vision of autobiographical memories or never-seen entities/places.

#### 2.6 Changes in functional connectivity

Functional connectivity is a measure of the distribution and flow of information across different areas of the brain, and it is generally operationalized as the "temporal dependency of neuronal activation patterns of anatomically separated brain regions" (van den Heuvel & Hulshoff Pol, 2010). It is usually used to investigate communication flow between different area of interest and therefore it has been used to build different brain networks, ascribe to them functional roles in controlling/processing different brain activity, and to describe connections within one network or between different networks. Resting-state functional connectivity (RSFC) is a method that measures the spontaneous task-free co-activation of different areas of the brain (Biswal, et al., 1995) and it has been recently taken into account to better understand the neural mechanisms of psychedelics, especially at a broader level of action. First, a commonly replicated finding with psychedelics is the increase of functional connectivity between visual circuits and other areas which are usually segregated from them (Roseman et al., 2014; Carhart-Harris et al., 2016b; Preller et al., 2018; Müller et al., 2017) (Fig. 2.3). For instance, RSFC has been found to be significantly increased between higher-order associative networks and primary visual cortex under LSD, together with an increase in cerebral blood flow in visual areas; and these measures were also correlated with renowned reduced occipital alpha power and subjective intensity of visual hallucinations (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016b). However, blood flow increase in V1 was not equally seen in a study assessing acute effects of ayahuasca with single photon emission tomography (SPECT) (McKenna & Riba, 2016). Increased connection of visual networks with higher-level associative systems was also seen with psilocybin (Roseman, et al., 2014) and with DMT (Alamia et al., 2020). In the latter study, DMT effects on 'traveling waves' (cortico spatio-temporal dynamics) were assessed. Based on findings that traveling waves can either represent bottom-up processing by propagating from occipital to frontal regions during visual perception or top-down processing by propagating in a reversed direction during resting states (Alamia & VanRullen, 2019; Halgren et al., 2019; Pang et al., 2020), their result of increased feed-forward (bottom-up) waves and decreased backward waves (top-down) showed that DMT elicited a spatio-temporal pattern of cortical activation that is normally seen under exogenously driven visual perception. This was also supported by a positive correlation between increased feed-forward waves and subjective ratings of visual imagery. The visual cortex was also seen to be more functionally connected with the parahippocampus under administration of LSD together with music stimulation, which

was suggested to be responsible for music-induced imagery (Kaelen, et al., 2016). Furthermore, LSD strengthened RSFC between the fusiform gyrus (an extrastriate region involved in higher-order visual processing) and the thalamus, and this was significantly associated with increased psychedelic imagery measured by the 'visionary restructuralization' scale of the 5D-ASC (Müller et al., 2017). These studies suggest that, given the increased amount of connectivity, visual processing of increased spontaneous activity might be more susceptible to new associations with stored memory and with other sensory modalities as well, which might explain some aspects of complex imagery. Therefore, the communication of the visual cortex with other areas might be a fundamental aspect for the experience of complex imagery given that the level of connectivity is proportional to the intensity of hallucinations. Nevertheless, although visual cortex connectivity changes are of primary interest for the investigation of visual hallucinations and are probably necessary for their emergence, the mechanism by which psychedelics exert their effects is thought to involve many networks and cortical modules, meaning that changes in visual cortex functional connectivity taken alone could not be sufficient to explain visual phenomena. In fact, under LSD and psilocybin, global connectivity increased throughout the brain (Petri et al., 2014; Tagliazucchi et al., 2016), and while networks that in normal conditions are differentiated showed increased RSFC, the connectivity between nodes belonging to the same network is decreased (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016b; Müller et al., 2018; Roseman et al., 2014). This hints that under psychedelics the plasticity of the brain is increased toward a high flexible state where new associations are created, but some of those ones already present might be disrupted, which means that the user is subject to both learning and unlearning. From another point of view, top-down information might be decreased, letting increased bottom-up information to be processed faster and in a non-hierarchical manner. Following this line, in a recent analysis of gradient-based connectivity mapping (Girn et al., 2022) a de-hierarchization of brain networks after both LSD and psilocybin intake was reflected by the levelling out of the principal gradient of cortical connectivity, which represented hierarchy organization from unimodal (e.g., primary sensory cortices) to transmodal brain networks (e.g., associative cortices). The authors also found that this was specifically grounded by a decrease in the modularity of low-order networks (within-network connectivity) together with an increase in the functional connectivity between unimodal networks and transmodal ones (between-network connectivity). Moreover, with the analysis of a second gradient they replicated findings of increased widespread RSFC of visual cortex under LSD. These

findings are corroborated by other studies that show psilocybin-induced diminished activity and within-network connectivity of association networks such as the DMN (Carhart-harris, 2012; Madsen et al., 2021; Müller et al., 2018; Preller et al., 2018), and enhanced sensory brain-wide connectivity induced by both psilocybin and LSD (Carhart-Harris et al., 2012; Preller et al., 2020). Functional connectivity between networks has also been studied with ayahuasca by measuring the transfer entropy, which is a mathematical measure implemented on EEG recordings that establish connectivity directionality and causality (McKenna & Riba, 2016). According to the experiment's results the regular flow of top-down activity from anterior associative regions to posterior sensory-related regions is reversed, and the predictability of anterior areas, based on activity on posterior sites, was enhanced. This had a positive correlation with subjective reports of experience intensity and DMT plasma levels. Summarizing this section, the most consistent finding is the dysregulation of top-down and bottom-up connectivity with a flattening of the regular modularity of the brain structure. Which at a perceptual level means that top-down expectations on external stimuli are decreased, and together with the increased processing of spontaneous activity (allowed by increased connectivity with higher-order networks), this creates both sensorial distortions during perception of external stimuli and visual imagery with eyes closed, whose content will eventually depend on the new connections made in associative networks. Nevertheless, with regard to visual hallucinations, more knowledge on the details of these functional connectivity changes is needed to better understand how simple vs. complex imagery are generated and what are the dynamical mechanisms that underpin the shift from one to the other during phase transitions of the experience.



Fig. 2.1 Average density maps for five 5-HT targets. From (Beliveau et al., 2017)



**Fig. 2.2** Statistical analysis of planar gradiometer-configured MEG data comparing LSD with placebo in the eyes-closed condition. Blue indicates less power under LSD. Source localization results are also displayed. From (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016).



**Fig. 2.3** Significant between-condition differences (orange = increases) in RSFC between the V1 seed region (purple) and the rest of the brain. From (Carhart-Harris et al., 2016).

#### CHAPTER III. Discussion and conclusions

## 3.1 Involvement of structures and networks in the regulation of synchronization and connectivity

In this section, with the goal to understand the mechanisms by which previously discussed neurophysiological changes induced by psychedelics are generated, I will discuss the involvement of specific structures and networks of the brain (thalamocortical networks, DMN and temporal lobe).

#### 3.1.1 Thalamocortical Networks

Since the thalamus and its nuclei are involved in relaying sensory information to the cortex, acting as filters, and in regulating brain rhythms (Saalmann, 2014; Sherman, 2016; Sherman & Guillery, 2002), the disruption of their activity might result in irregular flowing of information and altered excitability of the cortex. The way by which psychedelics disrupt thalamocortical networks was first descripted in the Cortico-striatal thalamo-cortical model, which explains the known psychedelic-induced perceptual alterations by accounting on the breakdown of thalamic gating function, which in turn lead to irregular coupling and disruption of the networks that connect the cortex with the thalamus and its nuclei (Vollenweider & Geyer, 2001). This is evidenced by the irregular glutamate release in the cortex consecutive to 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>R binding on the thalamus (Scruggs et al., 2000). A specific structure that might be involved in psychedelic-induced neurophysiological changes is the Reticular Nucleus (part of the thalamus), which GABAergic neurons have been found to be regulated by 5-HT<sub>2A</sub>Rs (Goitia et al., 2016; RodrÍGuez et al., 2011). The reticular nucleus is thought to control synchronization between brain regions, especially via interaction of low frequencies (alpha) with high frequencies (gamma) (Fogerson & Huguenard, 2016). Interestingly, a study found that in a visual thalamocortical network alpha band activity in the thalamus modulated gamma activity in different cortical regions (Wang et al., 2012), and this modulation was furthermore associated with increased RSFC. This phenomenon is known as Crossfrequency coupling (CFC) (Canolty & Knight, 2010), and another study provided causal evidence that this mechanism is responsible for the modulation of synchronized activity between regions of the thalamocortical system (Malekmohammadi et al., 2015). Taken together, these findings suggest that psychedelics might alter the normal regulation of synchronization driven by CFC, thus possibly explaining results of decreased alpha activity in occipital regions and the increases in RSFC as well. Hence, given the previously discussed correlations between these neurophysiological changes and the

intensity of visual hallucinations, the dysregulation of this process and in particular the reticular nucleus must be taken into account for further research. Another nucleus of the thalamus that might be important especially for visual hallucinations is the Pulvinar, which do not express 5-HT2A mRNA but contains 5-HT2A protein (López-Giménez, et al., 2001), suggesting that it receives input from neurons that contain presynaptic 5- $HT_{2A}R$ . This input probably comes from layer V of the visual cortex given its interconnections with the pulvinar (Purushothaman et al., 2012). Therefore, given the pulvinar's involvement in visual attention and motion perception (Bennett et al., 2019; Saalmann et al., 2012), this could be a possible site of action of psychedelics to induce visual elementary hallucinations.

#### 3.1.2 Temporal Networks/Lobe and Default Mode Network

The aforementioned finding of a correlation between LSD-induced visual imagery and increased RSFC between visual cortex and parahippocampus during music listening could be explained by a loosened control by higher-order associative regions such as the DMN. In fact, parahippocampus share a high baseline connectivity with three components of the DMN, namely the retrosplenial cortex (RSC), the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and the posterior cingulate cortex (PCC), which have an inhibitory effect (Raichle et al., 2001; Ward et al., 2014). These hubs of the DMN highly express 5-HT2A receptors (Beliveau, et al., 2017) and, consequently to both psilocybin and LSD intake, the RSFC between RSC and parahippocampal cortex (PHC) decreased (Carhart-Harris et al., 2014). What can be assumed is that the loosened connectivity between RSC and PHC could make the latter structure more sensitive to incoming bottom-up information (in the case of the experiment, music). Given that PHC is normally engaged in associative processing of context and episodic memory (Aminoff et al., 2013), under psychedelics action the processing of music might be more susceptible to associations with memories and, given the increased connectivity of PHC with visual cortex, this new associations might activate the corresponding visual representation in the form of imagery. In other terms, listening to music under psychedelics, considering that music itself is a complex stimulus that could even activate strong associations in PHC (especially if the subject has already heard the song), can generate insights which would be accompanied by a visual representation of them. Hence, this could stand for a valid mechanism for the generation of complex imagery. Furthermore, if this is true, then one could hypothesize that the same mechanism is valid for other stimulus-enhanced complex imagery (e.g., through odors or taste).

Therefore, more research is needed to support these neural interactions with more evidence.

# 3.2 Ending notes on temporal dynamics of elementary and complex visual hallucinations

After reviewing all the possible mechanisms by which elementary and complex imagery might be generated, it is still not very clear what is the mechanism that underpins the noted transition from one to the other. What is sure is that the brain region with the highest expression of 5-HT2AR is V1 and therefore it should be the first target of psychedelics. As mentioned before the psychedelics-induced activation of primary visual areas can be accounted to explain both why and how geometrical imagery is generated, but precise temporal dynamics of neurophysiological changes is missing, therefore we cannot conclude if elementary imagery is first created by increased excitation or reduced alpha inhibition, or even both simultaneously. Despite this, we can hypothesize that the vividness of elementary imagery and the emergence of complex imagery is driven by subsequent action of psychedelics on high-order networks of the brain, such as DMN and temporal networks, with thalamocortical networks that play a role in governing the flow of bottom-up input. In a temporal scheme, the first visual eyes-open visual distortions such as the increase of elementary visual features (color, brightness), could rise from the increased excitability of the visual system and an initial decrease in alpha power, whereas eyes-closed geometrical imagery and fractals could start to emerge when the irregular interplay between visual areas and thalamocortical network nodes reaches a point of destabilization (Kent, 2008); moreover the increased subjective vividness (meant as increased imagination) could be attributed to the increased connectivity of visual cortex with the DMN (Roseman et al., 2014). From then on, the content of complex imagery could be dependent on the new associations made possible by the increased connectivity of visual processing regions with the PHC, while the instability of the imagery could be driven by the increased global connectivity across the entire brain. By contrast, when one reaches peak states, described by a breakthrough experience that marks the passage into a mystical 'objective' visionary space in which the subject is fully immersed (Shanon, 2002), the excitability levels might increase until an overload in glutamatergic activity is reached (consistent with reports of sensory overload), followed by a state of lower energy and re-synchronization (Kent, 2008). This is also suggested by Winkelman (Winkelman, 2010), which describes this process as a collapse into a trophotropic and parasympathetic state, also called "rebound to superactivity", that is usually led by shamanic techniques.

As mentioned in the previous chapter (see 2.4), this trophotropic state might be reflected by the increase of temporal theta brainwaves, which could re-synchronize the activity of different brain regions, giving higher stability and integrity to the visual imagery and a sense of calmness to the user. Therefore, during peak states the visual imagery could have less sensorial richness but an increased integrity and meaningfulness to the user as theta waves spreads from the temporal lobe. The increase in temporal theta activity could be explained by the aforementioned (see 2.2) low density of 5-HT2AR in subcortical regions such as the hippocampus and other temporal structures (Beliveau, et al., 2017). Given that 5-HT2AR regulate both excitation and inhibition (De Almeida & Mengod, 2007), according to the trophotropic state hypothesis these temporal theta-generating regions could be those that are left active after the inhibition of those regions that show high 5-HT2AR density.

#### 3.3 Limitations on psychedelics research

Although the results gathered so fare are promising in the light of a deeper knowledge of psychedelics visual hallucinations, their distinction with psychotic states and their clinical applications, this field's literature shows many drawbacks of various kind, especially of validity and method.

#### 3.3.1 Sample size and representativity

One of the biggest problems encountered in writing this paper was the very little sample size of many of the experiments with psychedelics. Only in (Studerus et al., 2011) there was a high number of participants (N = 110), while the rest of the experiments often have less than 25 participants. Further limitations regard the low representativity of the samples: it is often preferred to select only psychedelic-experienced subjects and exclude naïve ones due to safety reasons related to unwanted psychological reactions. But in doing so the results could be biased by the low representativity of certain personality traits and by the increased tolerance of experienced users; and given that the individual baseline functional connectivity modulations induced by psilocybin (Preller et al., 2020), the low sample representativity could significantly alter RSFC results. Besides, it has been shown that the rare acute adverse psychological reactions in unexperienced users were successfully treated without pharmacological intervention, by supportive interpersonal psychological assistance (conducted following the guidelines for psychedelic research).

#### 3.3.2 Neuroimaging limitations

There are multiple limitations attributable to the use of neuroimaging techniques, especially fMRI, and limitations regarding the analysis of neuroimaging data as well. One of the main problems is the generation of strong artifacts in BOLD signal resulting from head movement during fMRI scans (Power et al., 2012), which is almost inevitable during the psychedelic condition and cannot be completely removed by preprocessing. Another problem arises from the fact that in control conditions about 30% of participants fall asleep during fMRI scans (Tagliazucchi & Laufs, 2014), which means that psychedelicinduced connectivity changes (e.g., thalamocortical functional connectivity) could also be seen due to the increased vigilance compared to control conditions, therefore mining the internal validity of RSFC experiments. In a recent review of 42 research articles studying psychedelic induced RSFC changes (McCulloch et al., 2022) it has been found that data processing and analysis methodology is not shared in any of the articles, except for two. Moreover, networks terminology is inconsistent between most of the papers, and most importantly, only two original datasets constitute the groundwork of more than half of the published literature. Therefore, this lack of original datasets and the great variance in methodology should be tackled with acquiring new data and replicating already published methodologies in order to have more consistency and external validity.

#### 3.3.3 Placebo

The last but not least important limiting factor is the trustworthiness of placebo control conditions. Especially for psychedelics, it is very difficult to erase participants' expectations regarding which condition they're taking part of. Indeed, a recent metaanalysis showed that the intrinsic nature of psilocybin made bliding of participants and lab personnel not possible, therefore strongly increasing the risk for detections bias (Goldberg et al., 2020). One future perspective could be the use of active control conditions such as Niacin (Ross et al., 2016). Although, it is important to highlight that positive expectations play a major role in enhancing therapeutic outcomes and psychedelics could facilitate this effect (Hartogsohn, 2016), therefore the control condition should be based on the context and purpose of the administration.

#### Bibliography

- Acosta-Urquidi, J. (2015). QEEG studies of the acute effects of the visionary tryptamine DMT. Cosmos and History: The Journal of Natural and Social Philosophy, 11(2), 115-129.
- Advokat, C. D., Comaty, J. E., & Julien, R. M., PhD. (2014). Julien's Primer of Drug Action. Macmillan Publishers.
- Aghajanian, G. K., & Marek, G. J. (1997). Serotonin Induces Excitatory Postsynaptic Potentials in Apical Dendrites of Neocortical Pyramidal Cells. *Neuropharmacology*, 36(4–5), 589–599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3908(97)00051-8</u>
- Aghajanian, G. K., & Marek, G. J. (1999). Serotonin, via 5-HT2A receptors, increases EPSCs in layer V pyramidal cells of prefrontal cortex by an asynchronous mode of glutamate release. *Brain Research*, 825(1–2), 161–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01224-X</u>
- Alamia, A., Timmermann, C., Nutt, D. J., VanRullen, R., & Carhart-Harris, R. L. (2020). DMT alters cortical travelling waves. *ELife*, 9, e59784. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.59784</u>
- Alamia, A., & VanRullen, R. (2019). Alpha oscillations and traveling waves: Signatures of predictive coding? *PLOS Biology*, 17(10), e3000487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000487</u>
- Alonso, J. F., Romero, S., Mañanas, M. À., & Riba, J. (2015). Serotonergic Psychedelics Temporarily Modify Information Transfer in Humans. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 18(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ijnp/pyv039</u>
- American Psychiatric Association (2013) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental diseases (DSM-V), 5th edn. American Psychiatric Association Press, Washington, DC
- Aminoff, E. M., Kveraga, K., & Bar, M. (2013). The role of the parahippocampal cortex in cognition. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 17(8), 379–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2013.06.009
- Beliveau, V., Ganz, M., Feng, L., Ozenne, B., Højgaard, L., Fisher, P. M., Svarer, C., Greve, D. N., & Knudsen, G. M. (2017). A High-Resolution *In Vivo* Atlas of the Human Brain's Serotonin System. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 37(1), 120–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2830-16.2016</u>
- Bennett, C., Gale, S. D., Garrett, M. E., Newton, M. L., Callaway, E. M., Murphy, G. J., & Olsen, S. R. (2019). Higher-Order Thalamic Circuits Channel Parallel Streams of Visual Information in Mice. *Neuron*, 102(2), 477-492.e5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.02.010</u>
- Billock, V. A., & Tsou, B. H. (2007). Neural interactions between flicker-induced selforganized visual hallucinations and physical stimuli. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(20), 8490–8495. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0610813104

- Billock, V. A., & Tsou, B. H. (2012). Elementary visual hallucinations and their relationships to neural pattern-forming mechanisms. *Psychological Bulletin*, 138(4), 744–774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027580</u>
- Biswal, B., Zerrin Yetkin, F., Haughton, V. M., & Hyde, J. S. (1995). Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar mri. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 34(4), 537–541. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.1910340409
- Bogenschutz, M. P., Forcehimes, A. A., Pommy, J. A., Wilcox, C. E., Barbosa, P., & Strassman, R. J. (2015). Psilocybin-assisted treatment for alcohol dependence: A proof-of-concept study. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 29(3), 289–299. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881114565144
- Bogenschutz, M. P., & Pommy, J. M. (2012). Therapeutic mechanisms of classic hallucinogens in the treatment of addictions: From indirect evidence to testable hypotheses: Hallucinogens for addictions. *Drug Testing and Analysis*, 4(7–8), 543– 555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dta.1376</u>
- Bressloff, P. C., Cowan, J. D., Golubitsky, M., Thomas, P. J., & Wiener, M. C. (2001). Geometric visual hallucinations, Euclidean symmetry and the functional architecture of striate cortex. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 356(1407), 299–330. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2000.0769
- Bressloff, P. C., Cowan, J. D., Golubitsky, M., Thomas, P. J., & Wiener, M. C. (2002). What Geometric Visual Hallucinations Tell Us about the Visual Cortex. *Neural Computation*, 14(3), 473–491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/089976602317250861</u>
- Bruhn, J. G., De Smet, P. A., El-Seedi, H. R., & Beck, O. (2002). Mescaline use for 5700 years. The Lancet, 359(9320), 1866.
- Butler, T. C., Benayoun, M., Wallace, E., van Drongelen, W., Goldenfeld, N., & Cowan, J. (2012). Evolutionary constraints on visual cortex architecture from the dynamics of hallucinations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(2), 606–609. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1118672109</u>
- Canolty, R. T., & Knight, R. T. (2010). The functional role of cross-frequency coupling. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 14(11), 506–515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2010.09.001</u>
- Carhart-Harris, R. (2007). Waves of the Unconscious: The Neurophysiology of *Dreamlike* Phenomena and Its Implications for the Psychodynamic Model of the Mind. *Neuropsychoanalysis*, 9(2), 183–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/15294145.2007.10773557
- Carhart-Harris, R. L., Bolstridge, M., Rucker, J., Day, C. M. J., Erritzoe, D., Kaelen, M., Bloomfield, M., Rickard, J. A., Forbes, B., Feilding, A., Taylor, D., Pilling, S., Curran, V. H., & Nutt, D. J. (2016a). Psilocybin with psychological support for treatment-resistant depression: An open-label feasibility study. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 3(7), 619–627. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30065-7
- Carhart-Harris, R. L., & Friston, K. J. (2019). REBUS and the Anarchic Brain: Toward a Unified Model of the Brain Action of Psychedelics. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 71(3), 316–344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.118.017160</u>

- Carhart-Harris, R. L., Leech, R., Hellyer, P. J., Shanahan, M., Feilding, A., Tagliazucchi, E., Chialvo, D. R., & Nutt, D. (2014). The entropic brain: A theory of conscious states informed by neuroimaging research with psychedelic drugs. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00020</u>
- Carhart-Harris, R. L., Leech, R., Williams, T. M., Erritzoe, D., Abbasi, N., Bargiotas, T., Hobden, P., Sharp, D. J., Evans, J., Feilding, A., Wise, R. G., & Nutt, D. J. (2012). Implications for psychedelic-assisted psychotherapy: Functional magnetic resonance imaging study with psilocybin. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 200(3), 238–244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.111.103309</u>
- Carhart-Harris, R. L., Muthukumaraswamy, S., Roseman, L., Kaelen, M., Droog, W., Murphy, K., Tagliazucchi, E., Schenberg, E. E., Nest, T., Orban, C., Leech, R., Williams, L. T., Williams, T. M., Bolstridge, M., Sessa, B., McGonigle, J., Sereno, M. I., Nichols, D., Hellyer, P. J., ... Nutt, D. J. (2016b). Neural correlates of the LSD experience revealed by multimodal neuroimaging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(17), 4853–4858. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1518377113</u>
- Carhart-Harris, R. L., Roseman, L., Haijen, E., Erritzoe, D., Watts, R., Branchi, I., & Kaelen, M. (2018). Psychedelics and the essential importance of context. *Journal* of Psychopharmacology, 32(7), 725–731. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881118754710
- Carter, O. L., Hasler, F., Pettigrew, J. D., Wallis, G. M., Liu, G. B., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2007). Psilocybin links binocular rivalry switch rate to attention and subjective arousal levels in humans. *Psychopharmacology*, 195(3), 415–424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-007-0930-9
- Carter, O. L., Pettigrew, J. D., Burr, D. C., Alais, D., Hasler, F., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2004). Psilocybin impairs high-level but not low-level motion perception: *NeuroReport*, 15(12), 1947–1951. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200408260-00023</u>
- Celada, P., Puig, M. V., & Artigas, F. (2013). Serotonin modulation of cortical neurons and networks. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2013.00025
- Celada, P., Puig, M. V., Díaz-Mataix, L., & Artigas, F. (2008). The Hallucinogen DOI Reduces Low-Frequency Oscillations in Rat Prefrontal Cortex: Reversal by Antipsychotic Drugs. *Biological Psychiatry*, 64(5), 392–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.03.013</u>
- Cott, C., & Rock, A. (2008). Phenomenology of N, N-dimethyltryptamine use: A thematic analysis. Journal of Scientific Exploration, 22(3), 359-370.
- De Almeida, J., & Mengod, G. (2007). Quantitative analysis of glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons expressing 5-HT2A receptors in human and monkey prefrontal cortex: Serotonin 2A receptors in primate prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 103(2), 475–486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04768.x</u>
- de Araujo, D. B., Ribeiro, S., Cecchi, G. A., Carvalho, F. M., Sanchez, T. A., Pinto, J. P., de Martinis, B. S., Crippa, J. A., Hallak, J. E. C., & Santos, A. C. (2012). Seeing with the eyes shut: Neural basis of enhanced imagery following ayahuasca

ingestion. *Human Brain Mapping*, *33*(11), 2550–2560. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21381

- Díaz, J. L. (2010). Sacred plants and visionary consciousness. *Phenomenology and the Cognitive Sciences*, 9(2), 159–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11097-010-9157-z</u>
- Dittrich, A. (1998). The Standardized Psychometric Assessment of Altered States of Consciousness (ASCs) in Humans. *Pharmacopsychiatry*, 31(S 2), 80–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-979351</u>
- Dobkin de Rios, M. (1971). Ayahuasca-the healing vine. International Journal of Social Psychiatry, 17(4), 256-269.
- El-Seedi, H. R., Smet, P. A. G. M. D., Beck, O., Possnert, G., & Bruhn, J. G. (2005). Prehistoric peyote use: Alkaloid analysis and radiocarbon dating of archaeological specimens of Lophophora from Texas. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 101(1–3), 238–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2005.04.022</u>
- Ergenoglu, T., Demiralp, T., Bayraktaroglu, Z., Ergen, M., Beydagi, H., & Uresin, Y. (2004). Alpha rhythm of the EEG modulates visual detection performance in humans. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 20(3), 376–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogbrainres.2004.03.009
- Ermentrout, G. B., & Cowan, J. D. (1979). A mathematical theory of visual hallucination patterns. *Biological Cybernetics*, *34*(3), 137–150. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00336965
- Fogerson, P. M., & Huguenard, J. R. (2016). Tapping the Brakes: Cellular and Synaptic Mechanisms that Regulate Thalamic Oscillations. *Neuron*, 92(4), 687–704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.10.024</u>
- Fortier, M. (2018). Sense of reality, metacognition, and culture in schizophrenic and drug-induced hallucinations (Vol. 1). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198789710.003.0016
- Fox, K. C. R., Girn, M., Parro, C. C., & Christoff, K. (2018). Functional Neuroimaging of Psychedelic Experience: An Overview of Psychological and Neural Effects and their Relevance to Research on Creativity, Daydreaming, and Dreaming. In R. E. Jung & O. Vartanian (Eds.), *The Cambridge Handbook of the Neuroscience of Creativity* (1st ed., pp. 92–113). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316556238.007
- Foxe, J. J., & Snyder, A. C. (2011). The Role of Alpha-Band Brain Oscillations as a Sensory Suppression Mechanism during Selective Attention. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00154</u>
- Geyer, M., & Vollenweider, F. (2008). Serotonin research: Contributions to understanding psychoses. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 29(9), 445–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2008.06.006
- Girn, M., Roseman, L., Bernhardt, B., Smallwood, J., Carhart-Harris, R., & Nathan Spreng, R. (2022). Serotonergic psychedelic drugs LSD and psilocybin reduce the hierarchical differentiation of unimodal and transmodal cortex. *NeuroImage*, 256, 119220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2022.119220</u>

- Goitia, B., Rivero-Echeto, M. C., Weisstaub, N. V., Gingrich, J. A., Garcia-Rill, E., Bisagno, V., & Urbano, F. J. (2016). Modulation of GABA release from the thalamic reticular nucleus by cocaine and caffeine: Role of serotonin receptors. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 136(3), 526–535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13398</u>
- Goldberg, S. B., Pace, B. T., Nicholas, C. R., Raison, C. L., & Hutson, P. R. (2020). The experimental effects of psilocybin on symptoms of anxiety and depression: A meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Research*, 284, 112749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112749
- Goldman, R. I., Stern, J. M., Engel, J., & Cohen, M. S. (2002). Simultaneous EEG and fMRI of the alpha rhythm. *Neuroreport*, *13*(18), 2487–2492. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.wnr.0000047685.08940.d0
- González-Maeso, J., Weisstaub, N. V., Zhou, M., Chan, P., Ivic, L., Ang, R., Lira, A., Bradley-Moore, M., Ge, Y., Zhou, Q., Sealfon, S. C., & Gingrich, J. A. (2007). Hallucinogens Recruit Specific Cortical 5-HT2A Receptor-Mediated Signaling Pathways to Affect Behavior. *Neuron*, 53(3), 439–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2007.01.008
- Griffiths, R. R., Johnson, M. W., Carducci, M. A., Umbricht, A., Richards, W. A., Richards, B. D., Cosimano, M. P., & Klinedinst, M. A. (2016). Psilocybin produces substantial and sustained decreases in depression and anxiety in patients with life-threatening cancer: A randomized double-blind trial. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 30(12), 1181–1197. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881116675513
- Grill-Spector, K., Kourtzi, Z., & Kanwisher, N. (2001). The lateral occipital complex and its role in object recognition. *Vision Research*, *41*(10–11), 1409–1422. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(01)00073-6
- Grinspoon, L., & Bakalar, J. B. (1979). Psychedelic drugs reconsidered (Vol. 168, pp. 163-166). New York: Basic Books.
- Grob, C. S., Danforth, A. L., Chopra, G. S., Hagerty, M., McKay, C. R., Halberstadt, A. L., & Greer, G. R. (2011). Pilot Study of Psilocybin Treatment for Anxiety in Patients With Advanced-Stage Cancer. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68(1), 71. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.116
- Grof, S., Goodman, L. E., Richards, W. A., & Kurland, A. A. (1973). LSD-Assisted Psychotherapy in Patients with Terminal Cancer. *International Pharmacopsychiatry*, 8(3), 129–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000467984</u>
- Haegens, S., Nácher, V., Luna, R., Romo, R., & Jensen, O. (2011). α-Oscillations in the monkey sensorimotor network influence discrimination performance by rhythmical inhibition of neuronal spiking. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(48), 19377–19382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1117190108</u>
- Halberstadt, A. L. (2015). Recent advances in the neuropsychopharmacology of serotonergic hallucinogens. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 277, 99–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.07.016
- Halgren, M., Ulbert, I., Bastuji, H., Fabó, D., Erőss, L., Rey, M., Devinsky, O., Doyle,W. K., Mak-McCully, R., Halgren, E., Wittner, L., Chauvel, P., Heit, G., Eskandar,E., Mandell, A., & Cash, S. S. (2019). The generation and propagation of the

human alpha rhythm. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(47), 23772–23782. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1913092116</u>

- Hartman, A. M., & Hollister, L. E. (1963). Effect of mescaline, lysergic acid diethylamide and psilocybin on color perception. *Psychopharmacologia*, 4(6), 441–451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00403349</u>
- Hartogsohn, I. (2016). Set and setting, psychedelics and the placebo response: An extrapharmacological perspective on psychopharmacology. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 30(12), 1259–1267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881116677852</u>
- Hasler, F., Grimberg, U., Benz, M. A., Huber, T., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2004). Acute psychological and physiological effects of psilocybin in healthy humans: A doubleblind, placebo-controlled dose?effect study. *Psychopharmacology*, 172(2), 145– 156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-003-1640-6</u>
- Hofmann, A. (1979). How LSD Originated. *Journal of Psychedelic Drugs*, *11*(1–2), 53–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.1979.10472092</u>
- Jehee, J. F. M., Roelfsema, P. R., Deco, G., Murre, J. M. J., & Lamme, V. A. F. (2007). Interactions between higher and lower visual areas improve shape selectivity of higher level neurons—Explaining crowding phenomena. *Brain Research*, 1157, 167–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2007.03.090</u>
- Johnson, M., Richards, W., & Griffiths, R. (2008). Human hallucinogen research: Guidelines for safety. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 22(6), 603–620. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881108093587
- Johnson, M. W., Garcia-Romeu, A., Cosimano, M. P., & Griffiths, R. R. (2014). Pilot study of the 5-HT <sub>2A</sub> R agonist psilocybin in the treatment of tobacco addiction. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 28(11), 983–992. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881114548296</u>
- Kaelen, M., Roseman, L., Kahan, J., Santos-Ribeiro, A., Orban, C., Lorenz, R., Barrett, F. S., Bolstridge, M., Williams, T., Williams, L., Wall, M. B., Feilding, A., Muthukumaraswamy, S., Nutt, D. J., & Carhart-Harris, R. (2016). LSD modulates music-induced imagery via changes in parahippocampal connectivity. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 26(7), 1099–1109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2016.03.018
- Keeler, M. H. (1965). The effects of psilocybin on a test of after-image perception. *Psychopharmacologia*, 8(2), 131–139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00404173</u>
- Kenet, T., Bibitchkov, D., Tsodyks, M., Grinvald, A., & Arieli, A. (2003). Spontaneously emerging cortical representations of visual attributes. *Nature*, 425(6961), 954–956. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02078</u>
- Kent, J. (n.d.). Selective 5-HT2A agonist hallucinogens: A review of pharmacological interaction and corollary perceptual effects. 16.
- Klimesch, W. (2011). Evoked alpha and early access to the knowledge system: The P1 inhibition timing hypothesis. *Brain Research*, *1408*, 52–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2011.06.003

- Klimesch, W. (2012). Alpha-band oscillations, attention, and controlled access to stored information. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *16*(12), 606–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2012.10.007
- Klimesch, W., Sauseng, P., & Hanslmayr, S. (2007). EEG alpha oscillations: The inhibition–timing hypothesis. *Brain Research Reviews*, *53*(1), 63–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2006.06.003</u>
- Klüver, H. (1928). Mescal: the divine plant and its psychological effects. Kegan Paul.
- Klüver, H. (1942). Mechanisms of hallucinations. In Q. McNemar & M. A. Merrill, Studies in personality (pp. 175–207). McGraw-Hill.
- Kometer, M., Cahn, B. R., Andel, D., Carter, O. L., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2011). The 5-HT2A/1A Agonist Psilocybin Disrupts Modal Object Completion Associated with Visual Hallucinations. *Biological Psychiatry*, 69(5), 399–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.10.002
- Kometer, M., Pokorny, T., Seifritz, E., & Volleinweider, F. X. (2015). Psilocybininduced spiritual experiences and insightfulness are associated with synchronization of neuronal oscillations. *Psychopharmacology*, 232(19), 3663– 3676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-4026-7</u>
- Kometer, M., Schmidt, A., Jancke, L., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2013). Activation of Serotonin 2A Receptors Underlies the Psilocybin-Induced Effects on Oscillations, N170 Visual-Evoked Potentials, and Visual Hallucinations. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(25), 10544–10551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3007-12.2013</u>
- Kometer, M., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2016). Serotonergic Hallucinogen-Induced Visual Perceptual Alterations. In A. L. Halberstadt, F. X. Vollenweider, & D. E. Nichols (Eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Psychedelic Drugs* (Vol. 36, pp. 257–282). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/7854\_2016\_461</u>
- Kourtzi, Z., & Kanwisher, N. (2001). Representation of Perceived Object Shape by the Human Lateral Occipital Complex. *Science*, 293(5534), 1506–1509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1061133</u>
- Kraehenmann, R., Preller, K. H., Scheidegger, M., Pokorny, T., Bosch, O. G., Seifritz, E., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2015). Psilocybin-Induced Decrease in Amygdala Reactivity Correlates with Enhanced Positive Mood in Healthy Volunteers. *Biological Psychiatry*, 78(8), 572–581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.04.010
- Krebs, T. S., & Johansen, P.-Ø. (2012). Lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) for alcoholism: Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 26(7), 994–1002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881112439253</u>
- Lee, H. W., Hong, S. B., Seo, D. W., Tae, W. S., & Hong, S. C. (2000). Mapping of functional organization in human visual cortex: Electrical cortical stimulation. *Neurology*, 54(4), 849–854. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.54.4.849</u>

- López-Giménez, J. F., & González-Maeso, J. (2017). Hallucinogens and Serotonin 5-HT2A Receptor-Mediated Signaling Pathways. In A. L. Halberstadt, F. X.
   Vollenweider, & D. E. Nichols (Eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Psychedelic* Drugs (Vol. 36, pp. 45–73). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/7854\_2017\_478</u>
- López-Giménez, J. F., Vilaró, M. T., Palacios, J. M., & Mengod, G. (2001). Mapping of 5-HT2A receptors and their mRNA in monkey brain:[3H] MDL100, 907 autoradiography and in situ hybridization studies. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 429(4), 571-589.
- Madsen, M. K., Stenbæk, D. S., Arvidsson, A., Armand, S., Marstrand-Joergensen, M. R., Johansen, S. S., Linnet, K., Ozenne, B., Knudsen, G. M., & Fisher, P. M. (2021). Psilocybin-induced changes in brain network integrity and segregation correlate with plasma psilocin level and psychedelic experience. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, *50*, 121–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2021.06.001
- Malekmohammadi, M., Elias, W. J., & Pouratian, N. (2015). Human Thalamus Regulates Cortical Activity via Spatially Specific and Structurally Constrained Phase-Amplitude Coupling. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25(6), 1618–1628. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht358</u>
- Marona-Lewicka, D., Kurrasch-Orbaugh, D., Selken, J., Cumbay, M., Lisnicchia, J., & Nichols, D. (2002). Re-evaluation of lisuride pharmacology: 5-hydroxytryptamine 1A receptor-mediated behavioral effects overlap its other properties in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 164(1), 93–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-002-1141-z</u>
- Mathewson, K. E., Lleras, A., Beck, D. M., Fabiani, M., Ro, T., & Gratton, G. (2011). Pulsed Out of Awareness: EEG Alpha Oscillations Represent a Pulsed-Inhibition of Ongoing Cortical Processing. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00099</u>
- Mayer, A., Schwiedrzik, C. M., Wibral, M., Singer, W., & Melloni, L. (2016). Expecting to See a Letter: Alpha Oscillations as Carriers of Top-Down Sensory Predictions. *Cerebral Cortex*, 26(7), 3146–3160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhv146</u>
- McCulloch, D. E.-W., Knudsen, G. M., Barrett, F. S., Doss, M. K., Carhart-Harris, R. L., Rosas, F. E., Deco, G., Kringelbach, M. L., Preller, K. H., Ramaekers, J. G., Mason, N. L., Müller, F., & Fisher, P. M. (2022). Psychedelic resting-state neuroimaging: A review and perspective on balancing replication and novel analyses. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *138*, 104689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2022.104689
- McKenna, D., & Riba, J. (2016). New World Tryptamine Hallucinogens and the Neuroscience of Ayahuasca. In A. L. Halberstadt, F. X. Vollenweider, & D. E. Nichols (Eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Psychedelic Drugs* (Vol. 36, pp. 283– 311). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/7854\_2016\_472</u>
- Montemurro, M. A., Rasch, M. J., Murayama, Y., Logothetis, N. K., & Panzeri, S. (2008). Phase-of-Firing Coding of Natural Visual Stimuli in Primary Visual Cortex. *Current Biology*, 18(5), 375–380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.02.023</u>

- Müller, F., Dolder, P. C., Schmidt, A., Liechti, M. E., & Borgwardt, S. (2018). Altered network hub connectivity after acute LSD administration. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 18, 694–701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2018.03.005</u>
- Müller, F., Lenz, C., Dolder, P., Lang, U., Schmidt, A., Liechti, M., & Borgwardt, S. (2017). Increased thalamic resting-state connectivity as a core driver of LSDinduced hallucinations. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 136(6), 648–657. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12818</u>
- Murray, M. M., Imber, M. L., Javitt, D. C., & Foxe, J. J. (2006). Boundary Completion Is Automatic and Dissociable from Shape Discrimination. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(46), 12043–12054. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3225-06.2006</u>
- Murray, M. M., Wylie, G. R., Higgins, B. A., Javitt, D. C., Schroeder, C. E., & Foxe, J. J. (2002). The Spatiotemporal Dynamics of Illusory Contour Processing: Combined High-Density Electrical Mapping, Source Analysis, and Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(12), 5055–5073. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-12-05055.2002
- Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., Carhart-Harris, R. L., Moran, R. J., Brookes, M. J., Williams, T. M., Errtizoe, D., Sessa, B., Papadopoulos, A., Bolstridge, M., Singh, K. D., Feilding, A., Friston, K. J., & Nutt, D. J. (2013). Broadband Cortical Desynchronization Underlies the Human Psychedelic State. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *33*(38), 15171–15183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2063-13.2013</u>
- Nichols, D. E. (2016). Psychedelics. *Pharmacological Reviews*, *68*(2), 264–355. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.115.011478
- Palva, S., & Palva, J. M. (2011). Functional Roles of Alpha-Band Phase Synchronization in Local and Large-Scale Cortical Networks. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00204</u>
- Pang, Z., Alamia, A., & VanRullen, R. (2020). Turning the Stimulus On and Off Dynamically Changes the Direction of Alpha Traveling Waves [Preprint]. Neuroscience. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.04.15.041756</u>
- Petri, G., Expert, P., Turkheimer, F., Carhart-Harris, R., Nutt, D., Hellyer, P. J., & Vaccarino, F. (2014). Homological scaffolds of brain functional networks. *Journal* of The Royal Society Interface, 11(101), 20140873. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2014.0873</u>
- Power, J. D., Barnes, K. A., Snyder, A. Z., Schlaggar, B. L., & Petersen, S. E. (2012). Spurious but systematic correlations in functional connectivity MRI networks arise from subject motion. *NeuroImage*, 59(3), 2142–2154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.10.018</u>
- Preller, K. H., Burt, J. B., Ji, J. L., Schleifer, C. H., Adkinson, B. D., Stämpfli, P., Seifritz, E., Repovs, G., Krystal, J. H., Murray, J. D., Vollenweider, F. X., & Anticevic, A. (2018). Changes in global and thalamic brain connectivity in LSDinduced altered states of consciousness are attributable to the 5-HT2A receptor. *ELife*, 7, e35082. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.35082</u>

- Preller, K. H., Duerler, P., Burt, J. B., Ji, J. L., Adkinson, B., Stämpfli, P., Seifritz, E., Repovš, G., Krystal, J. H., Murray, J. D., Anticevic, A., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2020). Psilocybin Induces Time-Dependent Changes in Global Functional Connectivity. *Biological Psychiatry*, 88(2), 197–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.12.027</u>
- Preller, K. H., Razi, A., Zeidman, P., Stämpfli, P., Friston, K. J., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2019). Effective connectivity changes in LSD-induced altered states of consciousness in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(7), 2743–2748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1815129116</u>
- Preller, K. H., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2016). Phenomenology, Structure, and Dynamic of Psychedelic States. In A. L. Halberstadt, F. X. Vollenweider, & D. E. Nichols (Eds.), *Behavioral Neurobiology of Psychedelic Drugs* (Vol. 36, pp. 221–256). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/7854\_2016\_459</u>
- Proverbio, A. M., & Zani, A. (2002). Electrophysiological indexes of illusory contours perception in humans. *Neuropsychologia*, 40(5), 479–491. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3932(01)00135-X
- Purushothaman, G., Marion, R., Li, K., & Casagrande, V. A. (2012). Gating and control of primary visual cortex by pulvinar. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(6), 905–912. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3106</u>
- Quednow, B. B., Kometer, M., Geyer, M. A., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2012). Psilocybin-Induced Deficits in Automatic and Controlled Inhibition are Attenuated by Ketanserin in Healthy Human Volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(3), 630– 640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2011.228</u>
- Raichle, M. E. (2015). The Brain's Default Mode Network. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 38(1), 433–447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-071013-014030</u>
- Raichle, M. E., MacLeod, A. M., Snyder, A. Z., Powers, W. J., Gusnard, D. A., & Shulman, G. L. (2001). A default mode of brain function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(2), 676–682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.98.2.676</u>
- Riga, M. S., Soria, G., Tudela, R., Artigas, F., & Celada, P. (2014). The natural hallucinogen 5-MeO-DMT, component of Ayahuasca, disrupts cortical function in rats: Reversal by antipsychotic drugs. *The International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *17*(08), 1269–1282. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1461145714000261
- RodrÍGuez, J. J., Noristani, H. N., Hoover, W. B., Linley, S. B., & Vertes, R. P. (2011). Serotonergic projections and serotonin receptor expression in the reticular nucleus of the thalamus in the rat. *Synapse*, 65(9), 919–928. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.20920</u>
- Rose, D., & Horn, G. (1977). Effects of LSD on the responses of single units in cat visual cortex. *Experimental Brain Research*, 27(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00234826</u>
- Roseman, L., Leech, R., Feilding, A., Nutt, D. J., & Carhart-Harris, R. L. (2014). The effects of psilocybin and MDMA on between-network resting state functional

connectivity in healthy volunteers. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2014.00204

- Roseman, L., Sereno, M. I., Leech, R., Kaelen, M., Orban, C., McGonigle, J., Feilding, A., Nutt, D. J., & Carhart-Harris, R. L. (2016). LSD alters eyes-closed functional connectivity within the early visual cortex in a retinotopic fashion: LSD Increases Retinotopic Coordination. *Human Brain Mapping*, *37*(8), 3031–3040. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23224
- Ross, S., Bossis, A., Guss, J., Agin-Liebes, G., Malone, T., Cohen, B., Mennenga, S. E., Belser, A., Kalliontzi, K., Babb, J., Su, Z., Corby, P., & Schmidt, B. L. (2016).
  Rapid and sustained symptom reduction following psilocybin treatment for anxiety and depression in patients with life-threatening cancer: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *30*(12), 1165–1180. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881116675512
- Rossion, B., Gauthier, I., Tarr, M. J., Despland, P., Bruyer, R., Linotte, S., & Crommelinck, M. (2000). The N170 occipito-temporal component is delayed and enhanced to inverted faces but not to inverted objects: An electrophysiological account of face-specific processes in the human brain. *NeuroReport*, *11*(1), 69–72. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200001170-00014
- Saalmann, Y. B. (2014). Intralaminar and medial thalamic influence on cortical synchrony, information transmission and cognition. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2014.00083</u>
- Saalmann, Y. B., Pinsk, M. A., Wang, L., Li, X., & Kastner, S. (2012). The Pulvinar Regulates Information Transmission Between Cortical Areas Based on Attention Demands. *Science*, 337(6095), 753–756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1223082</u>
- Salminen-Vaparanta, N., Vanni, S., Noreika, V., Valiulis, V., Móró, L., & Revonsuo, A. (2014). Subjective Characteristics of TMS-Induced Phosphenes Originating in Human V1 and V2. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(10), 2751–2760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht131</u>
- Schenberg, E. E., Alexandre, J. F. M., Filev, R., Cravo, A. M., Sato, J. R., Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., Yonamine, M., Waguespack, M., Lomnicka, I., Barker, S. A., & da Silveira, D. X. (2015). Acute Biphasic Effects of Ayahuasca. *PLOS ONE*, 10(9), e0137202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0137202</u>
- Schmid, Y., Enzler, F., Gasser, P., Grouzmann, E., Preller, K. H., Vollenweider, F. X., Brenneisen, R., Müller, F., Borgwardt, S., & Liechti, M. E. (2015). Acute Effects of Lysergic Acid Diethylamide in Healthy Subjects. *Biological Psychiatry*, 78(8), 544–553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.11.015</u>
- Schultes, R. E., & Hofmann, A. (1979). Plants of the gods: origins of hallucinogenic use (p. 149). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Scruggs, J. L., Patel, S., Bubser, M., & Deutch, A. Y. (2000). DOI-Induced Activation of the Cortex: Dependence on 5-HT <sub>2A</sub> Heteroceptors on Thalamocortical Glutamatergic Neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20(23), 8846–8852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-23-08846.2000</u>
- Sereno, M. I., Dale, A. M., Reppas, J. B., Kwong, K. K., Belliveau, J. W., Brady, T. J., Rosen, B. R., & Tootell, R. B. H. (1995). Borders of Multiple Visual Areas in

Humans Revealed by Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Science*, 268(5212), 889–893. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7754376

- Shanon, B. (2002). Ayahuasca visualizations a structural typology. Journal of Consciousness Studies, 9(2), 3-30.
- Sherman, S. M. (2016). Thalamus plays a central role in ongoing cortical functioning. *Nature Neuroscience*, *19*(4), 533–541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4269</u>
- Sherman, S. M., & Guillery, R. W. (2002). The role of the thalamus in the flow of information to the cortex. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 357(1428), 1695–1708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2002.1161</u>
- Siegel, R. K., & Jarvik, M. E. (1975). Drug-induced hallucinations in animals and man. Hallucinations: Behavior, experience and theory, 81, 161.
- Studerus, E., Gamma, A., Kometer, M., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2012). Prediction of Psilocybin Response in Healthy Volunteers. *PLoS ONE*, 7(2), e30800. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030800</u>
- Studerus, E., Kometer, M., Hasler, F., & Vollenweider, F. X. (2011). Acute, subacute and long-term subjective effects of psilocybin in healthy humans: A pooled analysis of experimental studies. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 25(11), 1434– 1452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881110382466</u>
- Tagliazucchi, E., & Laufs, H. (2014). Decoding Wakefulness Levels from Typical fMRI Resting-State Data Reveals Reliable Drifts between Wakefulness and Sleep. *Neuron*, 82(3), 695–708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.03.020</u>
- Tagliazucchi, E., Roseman, L., Kaelen, M., Orban, C., Muthukumaraswamy, S. D., Murphy, K., Laufs, H., Leech, R., McGonigle, J., Crossley, N., Bullmore, E., Williams, T., Bolstridge, M., Feilding, A., Nutt, D. J., & Carhart-Harris, R. (2016). Increased Global Functional Connectivity Correlates with LSD-Induced Ego Dissolution. *Current Biology*, 26(8), 1043–1050. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.02.010</u>
- Thut, G. (2006). -Band Electroencephalographic Activity over Occipital Cortex Indexes Visuospatial Attention Bias and Predicts Visual Target Detection. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(37), 9494–9502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0875-06.2006</u>
- Timmermann, C., Roseman, L., Schartner, M., Milliere, R., Williams, L. T. J., Erritzoe, D., Muthukumaraswamy, S., Ashton, M., Bendrioua, A., Kaur, O., Turton, S., Nour, M. M., Day, C. M., Leech, R., Nutt, D. J., & Carhart-Harris, R. L. (2019). Neural correlates of the DMT experience assessed with multivariate EEG. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 16324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-51974-4</u>
- Turing, A. M. (1990). The chemical basis of morphogenesis. Bulletin of Mathematical Biology, 52(1–2), 153–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02459572</u>
- Urban, J. D., Clarke, W. P., von Zastrow, M., Nichols, D. E., Kobilka, B., Weinstein, H., Javitch, J. A., Roth, B. L., Christopoulos, A., Sexton, P. M., Miller, K. J., Spedding, M., & Mailman, R. B. (2007). Functional Selectivity and Classical Concepts of Quantitative Pharmacology. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 320(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.106.104463</u>

- Valle, M., Maqueda, A. E., Rabella, M., Rodríguez-Pujadas, A., Antonijoan, R. M., Romero, S., Alonso, J. F., Mañanas, M. À., Barker, S., Friedlander, P., Feilding, A., & Riba, J. (2016). Inhibition of alpha oscillations through serotonin-2A receptor activation underlies the visual effects of ayahuasca in humans. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 26(7), 1161–1175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2016.03.012</u>
- van den Heuvel, M. P., & Hulshoff Pol, H. E. (2010). Exploring the brain network: A review on resting-state fMRI functional connectivity. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 20(8), 519–534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010.03.008</u>
- van Dijk, H., Schoffelen, J.-M., Oostenveld, R., & Jensen, O. (2008). Prestimulus Oscillatory Activity in the Alpha Band Predicts Visual Discrimination Ability. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(8), 1816–1823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1853-07.2008</u>
- Vollenweider, F. X., & Geyer, M. A. (2001). A systems model of altered consciousness: Integrating natural and drug-induced psychoses. *Brain Research Bulletin*, *56*(5), 495–507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0361-9230(01)00646-3</u>
- Vollenweider, F. X., Vollenweider-Scherpenhuyzen, M. F. I., Bäbler, A., Vogel, H., & Hell, D. (1998). Psilocybin induces schizophrenia-like psychosis in humans via a serotonin-2 agonist action: *NeuroReport*, 9(17), 3897–3902. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199812010-00024</u>
- Voss, U., Holzmann, R., Hobson, A., Paulus, W., Koppehele-Gossel, J., Klimke, A., & Nitsche, M. A. (2014). Induction of self awareness in dreams through frontal low current stimulation of gamma activity. *Nature Neuroscience*, 17(6), 810–812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3719</u>
- Wang, L., Saalmann, Y. B., Pinsk, M. A., Arcaro, M. J., & Kastner, S. (2012). Electrophysiological Low-Frequency Coherence and Cross-Frequency Coupling Contribute to BOLD Connectivity. *Neuron*, 76(5), 1010–1020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.09.033</u>
- Ward, A. M., Schultz, A. P., Huijbers, W., Van Dijk, K. R. A., Hedden, T., & Sperling, R. A. (2014). The parahippocampal gyrus links the default-mode cortical network with the medial temporal lobe memory system: DMN-MTL Connectivity. *Human Brain Mapping*, 35(3), 1061–1073. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.22234</u>
- Watakabe, A., Komatsu, Y., Sadakane, O., Shimegi, S., Takahata, T., Higo, N., Tochitani, S., Hashikawa, T., Naito, T., Osaki, H., Sakamoto, H., Okamoto, M., Ishikawa, A., Hara, S., Akasaki, T., Sato, H., & Yamamori, T. (2009). Enriched Expression of Serotonin 1B and 2A Receptor Genes in Macaque Visual Cortex and their Bidirectional Modulatory Effects on Neuronal Responses. *Cerebral Cortex*, *19*(8), 1915–1928. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhn219</u>
- Wilson, H. R., & Cowan, J. D. (1973). A mathematical theory of the functional dynamics of cortical and thalamic nervous tissue. *Kybernetik*, 13(2), 55–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00288786</u>
- Winkelman, M. (2010). Shamanism: A biopsychosocial paradigm of consciousness and healing. ABC-CLIO.

Zhang, C., & Marek, G. J. (2008). AMPA receptor involvement in 5hydroxytryptamine2A receptor-mediated pre-frontal cortical excitatory synaptic currents and DOI-induced head shakes. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology* and Biological Psychiatry, 32(1), 62–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2007.07.009